# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-02140-COA

PATRICK WILLIAM COX

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1<sup>ST</sup> JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY THE APPELLANT

Oral Argument will be sought

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI William R. LaBarre, MSB No

PUBLIC DEFENDER

Alison O. Kelly, MSB No. Frank L. McWilliams, MSB No Virginia L. Watkins, MSB N

Assistant Public Defenders Post Office Box 23029 Jackson, Mississippi 39225

Telephone: 601-948-2683

Facsimile:

601-948-2687

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred in giving Instruction S-4 and denying Instructions D-6 and D-7, which were a proper statement of law existing in 2006. Instruction S-4, concerning an essential element of the offense of forcible rape, was based on a 2007 legislative amendment to the definition of "sexual intercourse," thereby impermissibly subjecting Mr. Cox to an ex post facto law in violation of ART. I, SEC. 9-10, U.S. CONST.
- II. The trial court erred in refusing to suppress rape kits from both Jenna Ross and Mr. Cox as both kits were incomplete and crucial evidence was lost by police. Furthermore, the record demonstrates substantial contradiction among law enforcement officers responsible for ensuring proper chain of custody, raising serious questions of tampering or contamination.
- III. The trial court erred in admitting testimony by a social worker under MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 803(4); the testimony was inadmissible hearsay as the witness clearly testified she was not a diagnostician, nor did she seek to provide immediate treatment to Ross.
- IV. The quality of the evidence adduced at trial lacks both sufficiency and the necessary weight to support the verdict of the jury, particularly in view of the prejudicial errors this record demonstrates.
- V. The trial court erred in barring Mr. Cox from introducing the fact that Jenna Ross filed a premises liability lawsuit against owners of the gas station at which the alleged kidnapping occurred as it was evidence of bias.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Disposition of the Proceedings Below

Patrick William Cox was indicted in Cause No 07-0615 (1); (2); (3) in connection with the alleged kidnapping, carjacking and forcible rape of Jenna Ross on November 11, 2006 by a Hinds County grand jury, all in violation of MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 97-3-65; 97-3-1 and 97-3-53 (1972). CP 5.

Mr. Cox came on for trial by a jury of his peers on September 22, 2007 and on September 29, 2008, he was found guilty on all three counts. T. 1346; CP 81. Upon conviction, he was sentenced to twenty-eight (28) years on Count 1 (rape); fifteen (15) years on Count 2 (carjacking) and thirty (30) years on Count 3 (kidnapping), all to be served consecutively in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. T. 1353-1354; CP 82-87; RE 7-12. Mr. Cox was 42 years old at the time of his conviction.

Upon pursuit of post-trial motions, all of which were denied, Mr. Cox filed notice of appeal of his conviction, which has been assigned to this honorable Court. CP 132; 134.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The critical question on the convoluted facts of this case are whether a carjacking, a kidnapping and a forcible rape ever occurred on the night of November 11, 2006 beginning at the Sunrise Food Mart on Highway 18 South.

Two facts make the allegations of Jenna Ross virtually impossible: First and foremost, the most sensitive DNA testing available found *no* evidence of the DNA of Mr. Cox *inside* Ross, a requirement of the statute at the time these events occurred. T. 1009; Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65 (Supp. 1998).

Second, while Jenna Ross insists she was kidnapped about 11 PM, forced into her own car and then taken to a deserted side road and raped, this Court must consider that the first report

of her alleged abduction came about 10:30 to 10:35 PM through Marie Wright, close friend of Ross in Vicksburg, who said she received a call from Ross screaming over her cellular telephone, "take me back to the store on 18. You can keep the truck. Please, just don't hurt me. I have three kids." T. 249-250. Wright testified, without rebuttal, that she called 911 in Vicksburg only to be transferred to the Hinds County Sheriff's Department in Raymond. T. 250. Jackson police received the first radio dispatch at 10:40 PM that night - more than ten minutes before Ross testified the alleged abduction occurred. (Officer Taafe Hughes [T. 262; 294]; Officer Keith Dowd [185]; Det. Kimberly Brown [T. 1202-1203]). A Sunrise Food Mart surveillance tape with an automatic time and day stamp shows Ross making a cash purchase at 10:52 PM Nov. 11, 2006. (Exhibit 24). After the alleged kidnapping, Ross testified that her first surreptitious call with her cell phone was to 911, another fact unassailably refuted by Lt. Mary Riddley of the Jackson Police Department 911 center, Lt. Riddley testified that automated 911 records show no call ever received that night from the cell phone of Ross; the first 911 call of which there is a record was from Gregory Young, recorded at 2316 Nov.11, 2006, or 11:16 PM., nearly a half an hour after police were first dispatched on the call. T. 373; Exhibit 12.

#### The Chase

Shortly before 11 PM on the night of November 11, 2006, Jenna Ross was late for work and low on gas. T. 1038; 1079. Ross, who worked an 11 PM shift at Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield was traveling north on Highway 18; she had just dropped off two of her three children with a sitter in Utica and she testified she telephoned her supervisor to say she would be late. T. 1036. Ross then whipped around to Highway 18 South, bypassing a large, well-lit gas station at Wal-Mart, before she stopped at the Sunrise Food Mart. T. 1036; 1039; 1084. Ross testified she made the unwieldy detour because Sunrise gas was cheaper. T. 1084.

Ross testified she pulled in Pump No. 2 as all the other bays were full. T. 1042; 1088; 1092. A video culled from store surveillance cameras shows Ross entering the store and making a cash purchase at 10:52-10:53 PM. T. 890; Exhibit 24. As she fueled her car, Ross testified an unknown black man approached and asked her for a screwdriver. Ross replied she did not have one, yet the man kept edging closer; Ross testified she was hemmed in by the rubber gas hose snaking into her car and the man, with nowhere else to go. T. 1091. The man then told her to get in her car and threatened to kill her if she did not comply; he made a clicking noise with something in his pocket, although she admitted she never saw a gun and no gun was ever found. T. 1042; 1075. Ross climbed into her car, then into the back cargo area of her vehicle, screaming she said, as the unknown man, whom she later identified as Patrick Cox, climbed in behind her and took off with the gas nozzle still attached to the car. T. 1045; 1070. However, Sunrise worker Naresh Kumar testified that at the same time, he was a car or two away, chatting with a customer and never saw a pump on the ground and heard no one screaming T. 1222. Store cashier LaQuisha Harris had a full view of the fuel bays from the front window and saw no such altercation; the station pumps were also equipped with automatic alarms which would have gone off had the car driven off still attached to the pump. T. 1233. No alarms went off that night. T. 877. Det. Holly Haywood testified she went by the next morning and pointed out to owner Ravinder Sherma a gas nozzle on the ground, of which Sherma said he was unaware. T. 1213.

Ross testified that she begged the man to return to the gas station, but he said nothing. She then remembered she had her cell phone, which she pulled out and dialed 911. Testimony at trial, however, from Lt. Mary Riddley, chief of the JPD 911 call center, said the automated system had no record of a call from the cell phone registered to Ross. T.373; *Exhibit 12*. Ross also testified that she tried to reach Marie Wright. (T. 1049). When no help materialized, Ross testified she then telephoned Gregory Young, father of one of her three children. T. 1051. Ross

testified she did not speak to Young directly, but kept the telephone line to his home open, demanding to be returned to the store, pleading to be spared because of her three young children and identifying landmarks along the way. Ross testified that she had child locks engaged on all the back seat and cargo area doors, so could not escape. T.1050; 1052.

Young testified that he telephoned 911, and while the record is unclear as to which officer arrived first, Jackson Police Officer Taafe Hughes testified she responded to a dispatch call at 10:40 PM to the Alta Woods Terrace home of Young's mother – oddly enough, some fifteen minutes before the alleged carjacking and kidnapping occurred. T. 262 At 10:42 PM, Officer Hughes met a distraught Young outside the home, holding a cordless home telephone; the two went inside so that Hughes could monitor the telephone call. T. 264. Also responding was Officer Keith Dowd, who arrived shortly after Hughes and who briefly listened in on the telephone call. T.180; 185-186. Dowd testified he thought he recognized from statements by Ross where she might be located, so he left to try and find her. T. 182. On the way, Dowd testified he radioed other precinct officers to assist in trying to track down the gold Chevy Equinox. T. 183.

Meanwhile, Ross testified that her assailant stopped the car in a dark neighborhood that to her, appeared abandoned. T.1055. He demanded she come into the front seat and to remove her clothing. T.1056. Ross told the jury she "tussled," screamed and tried to resist her attacker; she told him she was HIV positive and he said he was HIV positive. T. 1058. As she continued to resist, he told her he would put two bullets in her head and finally wrapped a car cell phone charger around her neck to try to strangle her into submission. T 1060. A physical examination just hours later, however, found no evidence of such a strangulation attempt. T. 428. At this point, Ross said she complied and after licking her neck and breast, the man raped her. T.1058; 1059.

Officers were still attempting to locate Ross; Hughes remained on the telephone at the home of Gregory Young and Dowd had mobilized a group of officers searching for the Equinox. T. 183; 275. Finally, Hughes lost the connection to the cell phone of Ross and could not restore it; Ross later testified that the man found the cell phone and smashed it to prevent further calls.T. 276; 1061. While they were parked on the roadside, Ross testified she noticed a white Chevrolet Lumina pass by; distracted, the man tried to start her car to drive off, during which Ross testified she bolted from the front seat and at first sought help from the driver of the white car. T.1064. Ross realized, however, clad only in socks and a shirt pushed up to her neck that the Lumina driver might present a more dangerous option, so she ran across Highway 49 and into the BP gas station then run by Willie Harris. T. 1065.

Harris testified he was closing up when he looked up to see a virtually nude woman banging at the front glass. T.302; 303. His employee let her in, Harris took her to the back room, gave her a large garbage bag for covering and called 911. T. 303. Hughes immediately notified Young when she received word that Ross was at the gas station and took Young with her to the gas station, while Dowd and fellow officers continued to search for her car and the alleged assailant.

Officers came upon her car at the corner of Red Oak Circle and Gary Drive off Highway 49. T. 728-729. Officer Malcolm Macon testified that as they shined a light, they saw an unidentifiable figure run from the car. T.729; 731. Within moments, Dowd arrived and telephoned for help from Deputy Jon Cooley, who at that time worked with a blood hound named Stella. T. 194; 313. Upon arrival, Cooley testified he rubbed a cloth against areas in the Equinox the assailant might have touched then gave it to Stella to scent. T. 317. Almost immediately, the dog headed north, police testified. T.195. Cooley led the way, while other officers remained in the rear; eventually, they came to a house and what appeared to be a

concrete fence surrounding several abandoned cars. T. 196; 325; 733. Stella went to one vehicle and sat down. T.326. Police approached and found Mr. Cox inside, who although he tried to appear sleep, was sweating profusely and panting. T.198; 737. Officers then went to each of the vehicles and in all rounded up three other men sleeping in abandoned vehicles. T. 739.

Dowd testified all four of the men were given warnings required under *Miranda v*.

Arizona there on the scene. T. 200-201. Dowd had a digital video camera that he used to take photographs of all four men, including Mr. Cox. T 202. The photograph of Mr. Cox, however, is by far the most clear and well- lit. Exhibit No. 1-4; T. 205. Pictures of the other men were illuminated by pole lights and stem lights from police cars. T. 226. While other officers remained on the scene with the four men, Dowd took the camera to the University Medical Center, where Ross had been taken by ambulance for treatment. T. 202. There, Dowd gave the camera to Detective Kimberly Brown, who had been dispatched to the hospital to investigate a suspected sexual assault. T. 202.

Brown testified that she took the camera in to Ross; Ross identified Mr. Cox as her assailant as soon as she saw his photograph. T. 855

## The hospital

Once at the hospital, Ross was interviewed by Martha Pentecost, a social worker, and Patty Welch, a registered nurse, for a patient history. T. 384; 416; *Exhibit 13*. Pentecost, who repeatedly testified she was not there to diagnose or treat, but solely to take note of the demeanor of Ross and determine a desire for follow-up counseling, was present for a session during which it appears both she and Welch questioned Ross about the events of the evening. T. 381; 386-387; 404.

Welch identified herself as a SANE nurse – Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner – a certification awarded by the International Association of Forensic Nurses after training and

testing. T. 413. In fact, Welch was *not* a certified SANE; she did not even take the examination until nearly two years later, the week prior to the trial of this cause. T.459; 460; 477. Upon cross-examination, Welch said the designation was a 'job distinction' rather than a certification. T. 459. Nevertheless, it was Welch who conducted the collection of evidence from the person of Ross and it was Welch who performed the internal examination and took both external (in the neck and breast area) and internal swabs from Ross for the rape kit. T. 467; 468; 471. *Exhibit 11*.

According to the testimony of Welch and Pentecost, Ross told them she was raped by an unknown black man who told her he was HIV positive and threatened to kill her. T. 398; 400; 417. Ross also said that her assailant choked her with a cell phone charger cord, yet neither Welch nor any other medical personnel documented any bruising or other sign that Ross had been choked with a cord. See *Exhibit 11* [diagram of injuries] *Exhibit 13* [medical records]. Welch testified that she found no obvious internal injury of Ross, (T. 473), but did note bruising to the arms and blood about the mouth, which Ross told Welch occurred during her physical struggle with the assailant. T. 424. Dr. Grace Santa Teresa, one of the physicians, testified a yeast infection could also account for the redness, but no test was done. T. 428; 432; 540.

Meanwhile, as Ross underwent examination, police on the scene brought Mr. Cox to UMC after Ross had identified him.T. 210; 746. Officer Dowd testified he again informed Mr. Cox of his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, and that Mr. Cox thereafter wrote out a short statement, witnessed by Officer Dowd and Det. Brown. T. 218. Mr. Cox agreed to take a suspect rape kit examination to prove he did not have sex with Ross. T. 218-219.

Garrett Whiddon, a UMC emergency room nurse, conducted the rape kit collection of evidence from the clothing and person of Mr. Cox. T. 487-488. *See also Exhibit 7*. The kit included oral swabs and a blood sample, as well as hair, to develop a DNA profile of Mr. Cox. T. 494-495. This was the first rape kit Whiddon had ever performed. Whiddon collected the wind

suit Mr. Cox wore, placed it into one of two rape kit envelopes and sealed them with his signature, noting there were *two* envelopes. T. 496. The outer envelope also shows that Officer Reginald Craft signed for both envelopes, although the envelope containing the clothing of Mr. Ross and other evidence collected as he disrobed were never found. T. 502. Whiddon testified he did not recall giving the two-envelope kit to Craft; he thought he locked the evidence in a hospital refrigerator. T. 511.

The matter of the missing envelopes arose again when it came to collection of evidence from the examination Welch performed of Ross.

Welch vehemently insisted that she collected all required evidence into *three* envelopes, yet evidence shows only *one* envelope admitted into evidence. *See Exhibits 11; 14* [rape kit of Ross and manila envelope containing hospital report]. Welch testified she had three envelopes, including two that held the garbage bag Ross wore upon admission, her top and socks. T. 447. Upon cross-examination, Welch was forced to admit the rape kit of Ross was not only missing two envelopes of clothing, but also missing a completed summary page, including the identity of one taking history, performing examination and listing all persons present during the examination. T. 475. Nevertheless, Welch, insisted that she "never" failed to include evidence required for the rape kit and that she turned over all three envelopes – including socks, trash bag and blouse – to a policeman. T. 463-466.

Testimony regarding chain of custody of the two rape kits, particularly in view of the loss of at least three envelopes of missing evidence - including all clothing worn by Ross and Mr. Cox - is completely contradictory.

Officer Dowd testified he picked up from Whiddon the rape kit done on Mr. Cox and that he did NOT receive a second envelope, only one; T. 221-222; 233.

Officer Reginald Craft testified he received the rape kit done of *Ross* from nurse Welch. Craft testified he picked up one envelope, transported it to Precinct 1, logged into evidence and locked it in evidence refrigerator. T. 353-354. *See Exhibit 11*.

Welch testified she personally handed all three envelopes to the officer who collected the rape kit on Ross. She testified she could not remember to whom she handed the three evidence envelopes. T. 465.

Contrary to his testimony, Reginald Craft received the rape kit of *Mr. Cox* from nurse Whiddon, as demonstrated by the signature of Craft on one of the envelopes. T. 500. The second, now missing envelope contained the dark blue windsuit Mr. Cox wore at arrest. T. 501.

Detective Kimberly Brown testified that Officer Dowd took the rape kit of Mr. Cox, while Craft collected the rape kit done of Ross. T. 865.

The records that did survive show only that Reginald Craft received the rape kit of Mr.

Cox from nurse Whiddon, T. 500. No written record shows Dowd received the rape kit of Ross – with two of its three envelopes missing – from nurse Welch, although Welch clearly testified the receiving officer must sign for everything he receives. T. 463.

#### The DNA testing

Latanya Thomas, Jackson Police Department crime laboratory analyst, conducted a preliminary analysis on the vulvar, vaginal and rectal swabs taken from Ross early morning of November 12, 2006, all of which tested negative for the presence of semen. T. 675. Thomas testified she received only one envelope on Ross and one envelope on Mr. Cox. T. 677.

The swabs were then sent to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, which at the time contracted with another laboratory to do DNA analysis. T. 625. A black hat with a hair recovered from the Equinox vehicle, several other hairs and the dried secretion swabs as well as blood samples from both Cox and Ross were sent to a laboratory in 2007 then known as Reliagene. T.

625. Gina Pineda of Reliagene, now known as Orchid, testified that their tests showed the dried secretion swabs contained a mixture of DNA from both Ross and Mr. Cox. The hair in the hat was confirmed to contain the DNA of Mr. Cox, although the hat recovered from the vehicle (T. 552) was not the one Deputy Cooley vividly remembered Mr. Cox wore when officers found him – black with purple flames. T. 336; 338; 340.

The prosecutor at that point then contacted Scales Biological Laboratory in Brandon, to see if more sensitive and modern testing could show a DNA profile connecting Mr. Cox to the crime. T. 677.

Testimony again becomes very contradictory; the prosecution ultimately confessed to the court there was a break in the chain of custody. T. 909.

Kenny Lewis, an investigator with the Office of the Hinds County District Attorney, took the stand to testify he took the rape kits from Mr. Cox and Ross to Scales on separate occasions in order to determine whether testing would show a "Y" DNA chromosome on swabs taken from Ross from perhaps a skin cell, rather than semen or sperm. T. 690-692; 950.

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