IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK WILLIAM COX

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-2140

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The record reflects that the evidence submission forms for the suspect's and the victim's rape kits were admitted into evidence without objection from Mr. Cox. R. 928; 950-951. They had Mr. Monroe's and Mr. Lewis's signature on them. The appellee would submit that the record reflects a lack of evidence that any "tainting" of evidence occurred based upon alleged breaks in the chain of custody or for any other reason.

3. The record reflects that the testimony of Ms. Pentecost was properly admitted. R. 396. The record reflects that she was present as part of an admission team. R. 387. This team included Ms. Patty Welch, a registered nurse. See M. R. E. 803(4) and **Anthony v. State** 23 So.3d 611, 617 (Miss. App. 2009) for criteria for admission under Rule 803(4).

In addition to Pentecost, and Welch, two police officers were present when Ms. Jenna Ross was admitted into the UMC hospital for medical diagnosis and treatment. R. 378-412; 413-484. 4. The record reflects that there was credible, substantial corroborated evidence in support of Cox's convictions for car jacking, kidnaping and forcible rape. **McClain v. State**, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). Ms. Ross's testimony of being forced into her car, driven to an isolated location against her will, and then raped was corroborated by numerous witnesses. R. 180; 248; 260; 579. These witnesses included Ross's best friend, Ms. Maria Wright, her ex-husband, Mr. Gregory Young, and Officers Taafe Hughes and Keith Dowd. They testified to listening to Ross's obviously distressed, if not hysterical voice. R. 180 248; 260; 579. This was under circumstances from which it could be inferred that she was being held against her will, and being forcibly raped. She was being

threatened by an unidentified male.

Ms. Ross was also corroborated by DNA evidence. Cox's DNA profile was found on Ross's neck, breast, and and "inside" her vagina. R. 824; 1029. This corroborated her testimony about being "licked" on "my neck," and "my breast" prior to being raped by her assailant. R. 1059. She identified her assailant before the jury as being Cox. R. 1074. The black hat left in Ross's car also contained biological evidence which fit Cox's DNA profile. R. 793; 824; 1106.

5. This issue was waived for failure to make an adequate record. The record does not contain any "proffer" of how the civil suit was relevant to the testimony of Ms. Ross to the best of the appellee's knowledge. **Metcalf v. State** 629 So.2d 558, 567 (Miss. 1993) and M R E. 103(a)(2) and 403.

The trial court found there was a lack of evidence that testimony about a civil suit filed by the victim against Sunrise Convenience Store was relevant. R.E. 15.

Additionally, The record reflects that Ms. Ross was subjected to thorough cross examination.

R. 1074-1106. This included proposed testimony about her employment history on unsubstantiated grounds of the victim allegedly needing money. R. 1101.

Therefore, the appellee would submit that this issue was not only waived, it was also lacking in merit.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD REFLECTS THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED.

Mr. Cox argues that the trial court erred in granting jury instruction S-4, and denying his instructions D-6 and D-7. C.P. 73; 76; 96. Cox believed the legislature altered a definition of "sexual intercourse" under an amended rape statute in March, 2007. He believes S-4 incorporated this alleged new definition. This action allegedly subjected him to "an ex-post facto law." Cox argues that this allowed the jury to convict him even though he believes there was no convincing scientific evidence that his penis penetrated the victim's vagina. Appellant's brief page 14-18.

The record reflects that this is a case where penetration of the vagina was fully corroborated.

Ms. Jenna Ross testified clearly and unequivocally that Cox penetrated her vagina with his penis.

She testified that Cox put his penis "in my vagina." R. 1060.

Q. Where did he stick his penis?

A. In my vagina. I was screaming and hollering and he told me to shut up. He wasn't hurting me. I got three kits. It wasn't hurting. R. 1060. (Emphasis by appellee).

Cox was indicted under M. C. A. Sect. 97-3-65 (4)(a) for having "forcible sexual intercourse with another person." Under 97-3-65(6), which defines intercourse, the statute stated "Penis...inserted into the vagina..."

The record also reflects that Ms. Kathryn Moyse, a DNA analyst, testified that Mr. Cox's DNA profile was found "inside" the vagina. This was based upon genetic analysis of the vagina swab from Ms. Ross.

- Q. You can tell me he penetrated—someone with that profile penetrated her, though?
- A. I can tell you that his DNA was inside her on the vaginal swab, yes. R. 1029.

(Emphasis by appellee).

The record reflects, as noted by the trial court, 97-3-65 (6) was altered in 2007 to make the statute "gender neutral." After the phrase, "the penis of the male is inserted into the vagina of the female" was added the following clause: "or the penetration of the sexual organs of a male or female human being in which the penis or an object is inserted into the genitals, anus or perineum of a male or female." M. C. A. Sect. 97-3-65(6),(2007 Supp.).

The record reflects that the trial court, after hearing argument and reviewing the statutory changes in the 2007 supplement volume and case law, found that jury instruction S-4 was adequate for instructing the jury. It was adequate for instructing them on the evidence needed for establishing a rape conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. The record also reflects that many other instruction were provided by the court, by the prosecution and by the defense. R. 1297.

Trial Court: All right. And then in the **Jackson versus State** case, which has been referred to several times, the court has already mentioned there the language in that case as to why it is the general law that in a rape case, some penetration is required. Only slight penetration of private parts is required to constitute the offense. And then refers to other courts upholding rape convictions where slight penetration of vulva or labia is shown and cites a whole list of cases from other states. So in view of the —the case law, the court's of the opinion that S-4 should be given. R. 1294-1295.

In **Morris v. State**, 913 So.2d 432, 435 (Miss. App. 2005), the court pointed out that a victim's testimony of digital penetration was sufficient for providing an evidentiary basis for a jury instruction for rape. This was in a case lacking any medical corroboration, which we have in the instant cause.

¶ 13. At trial, S. R. gave testimony that Morris digitally penetrated her private parts. S. R.'s testimony is sufficient to establish an evidentiary basis for the act of penetration. The lack of medical testimony does not vitiate the claim of slight penetration of the vulva or labia. These are terms of biology, which are accorded their ordinary usage in describing the victim's account. The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the "totally uncorroborated testimony of a victim is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other

evidence." **Christian v. State**, 456 So.2d 729, 734 (Miss.1984). The victim's statements regarding Morris' intrusion into her private body parts were sufficient to warrant an instruction regarding digital penetration. Although her testimony is contradicted by the accused, credibility is to be determine by the jury.

In **Jackson v. State**, 452 So.2d 438, 440 -441 (Miss. 1984), the Supreme Court found that "slight penetration" of the private parts of the victim was sufficient for a rape conviction. Evidence of penetration of "the labias" was found sufficient for establishing penetration for purpose of the rape statute.

In the instant cause, Nurse Welch testified that her examination revealed "erythema," or "redness" and "painfulness" on Ms Ross's labia minor. R. 432.

While it is the general law that in a rape case some penetration is required, only slight penetration of the private parts of the victim is required to constitute the offense. Jackson was seen on top of the child in the very act of committing the rape. The doctor's testimony showed penetration to the extent of causing traumatic injury to the child's major and minor labias. This was sufficient penetration within the meaning of the statute. Horton v. State, 374 So.2d 764 (Miss.1979); Lang v. State, 87 So.2d 265, 230 Miss. 147 (1956), cert. den. 352 U.S. 936, 77 S. Ct. 236, 1 L. Ed.2d 167, citing 75 C. J. S. Rape § 10b. (Emphasis by appellee.)

In **Taylor v. State**, 597 So. 2d 192, 195 (Miss. 1992), this Court stated that the trial court's instructions must be taken together. They need not cover every point of importance as long as the point is fairly presented elsewhere. In the instant cause, instruction S-4 included "the slightest penetration of the sexual organ." In Cox's proposed instructions, he stated "penis inserted into vagina" C.P. 73;76; 96.

Our well settled rule is that on appeal we consider complaints of error in jury instructions by reading the instructions as a whole. All instructions "are to be read together and if the jury is fully and fairly instructed by other instructions the refusal of any similar instruction does not constitute reversal error." Laney v. State, 486 So. 2d 1242, 1246 (Miss. 1986). Not every instructions need cover every point of importance, so long as the point is fairly presented elsewhere. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Butler v. State 608 So.2d 314, 320 -321 (Miss. 1992), relied upon by Cox, the felony

child abuse statute was altered in instructions from statutory language that include "any bone.. fractured," or body part "mutilated, disfigured or destroyed" to the more general, "intentionally injure" the child so as "to cause serious bodily injury." This was in 1989.

On April 11-12, 1989, the date of the commission of the crime, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(2) required in order to convict of child abuse that the injury inflicted must have been "in such a manner so that any bone is fractured or any part of the body of such child is mutilated, disfigured or destroyed." Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39(2) was amended, effective April 21, 1989, to require merely that the defendant intentionally injured the child "in such a manner as to cause serious bodily harm."

In **Rushing v. State**, 753 So.2d 1136, 1146 (Miss. App. 2000), also relied upon by Cox, the Court found the trial court altered the indictment in instructions. It did so by including an element for the offense that was not originally stated in the indictment. Under the disjunctive aggravated assault statute "serious bodily injury" was included in section (a) while using "a deadly weapon" was included in (b).

By giving jury instruction C-7, the trial court indirectly amended the indictment, by dropping the serious bodily injury element of § 97-3-7(2)(a), and substituting the deadly weapon element of § 97-3-7(2)(b).

The record reflects that the trial court found that jury instructions D-6 and D-7 were rejected because they would be "duplicative." R. 1295-1296.

The record reflects that the jury was properly instructed. R. 1254-1299. There were many other instructions provided by the trial court, including C-2, C-3,S-1, S-2. S-3, S-4, S-6, S-7 and S-8 in addition to defense instructions D-3, D-9 and D-10, R. 1297.

The appellee would submit that there was no evidence that Cox was submitted to an ex post facto law. based upon use of the gender neutral language added to M. C. A. Sect. 97-3-65(6) (Supp. 2007).

In short, the appellee believes the definition of "forcible rape" as stated in S-4 was not

substantially altered. It merely included the more general language "slightest penetration of the sexual organ" rather than the more specific "penis inserted in vagina" language offered in Cox's proposed instructions. C.P. 73, 76, 96.

Therefore, the appellee would submit that Mr. Cox was not subjected to any ex post facto law. Nor was his rape indictment altered by the instructions given which included S-4 among many others. R. 1297.

This issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THE RAPE KIT WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

Cox argues that the trial court erred in allowing rape kits to be admitted into evidence. He argues this was error because there were inconsistencies in the testimony of law enforcement about how the rape kits were collected, labeled, taken to the genetic labs, tested, with the positive results documented and then returned to law enforcement for submission during the trial. Cox argues there was a break in custody based upon this conflicting testimony of Officers Lewis and Monroe. Appellant page 18-22.

The appellee believes the record supports the trial court in finding that the suspect and the victim's rape kit was properly admitted into evidence. R. 923; 928; 950. The record reflects that the trial court, after hearing objections, found there was no evidence that any "tampering" with or altering of the evidence ever occurred. While there were discrepancies as to who took the rape kits to Scales Biological Laboratory for testing, and then after testing returned them, the trial court found this could be dealt with on cross examination. R. 923.

It was dealt with during the testimony of Officer Wayne Monroe. Monroe testified that, as shown by his signature on the admission form admitted into evidence, he took Ms. Ross' rape kit to Scales Laboratory for testing. He testified that Lewis who had previously testified was mistaken in testifying that he had done so. While Lewis had handled some rape kit evidence prior to trial in this case, as well as in others, he was not the person who submitted it to Scales for testing. In short, Officer Monroe's testimony indicated there was no break in custody, based upon the conflict between his testimony and that previously heard from Officer Lewis.

Officer Wayne Monroe testified that he took the victim's rape kit to Scales. R. 931. This was after he received it from investigators with the JPD. Monroe testified that both he and Officer Lewis

worked for the District Attorney's Office. They worked together on this case. Monroe testified that Lewis may have received the evidence after it was tested by Scales laboratory, and placed it in their office R. 930. Monroe testified that the evidence was kept at his office. His door was locked up

when he was not present. He also testified that it was an old building and it was cold at times.

Q. What does it say you brought down there?

A. Sexual assault kit from victim, Jenna Ross. Vaginal swabs from victim. Sexual

assault-I guess that's SAE kit from Jenna Ross. Y filer. Is that vulvar?

O. Vulvar?

A. Vulvar swabs from victim. SAE kit from Jenna Ross. Y filer.

O. And that was filled out in your presence; was it not?

A. Yes, sir.

O. And that—your signature, what does that mean on that document?

A. It's—means that I delivered this to Scales Laboratory.

McBride: Your Honor, at this time, we'd ask for this evidence submission form to

be entered into evidence?

Court: Any objection.

Ms. Kelly: No, your honor.

Court: It may be admitted. R. 928. (Emphasis by appellee).

Officer Monroe testified that Mr. Lewis had been mistaken when he stated that he took Ms.

Ross' rape kit to Scales Lab for testing. This was in part the result to Lewis working with Monroe

on this case, as well as many others involving trips to and from various crime labs and genetic labs.

Q. And upon learning that Mr. Lewis said he had taken the suspect's kit when you know that you took it, would you-in your opinion, would that be a lie on Mr. Lewis'

part or a mistake?

17

A. I think that would be a mistake. R. 932.

The rape kit evidence taken from Mr. Cox was admitted into evidence without any objection from the defense. R. 950-951. The rape kit admission form was signed by Officer Kenny Lewis. R. 951. Therefore, issues related to Cox's rape kit were waived for failure to make any objection.

In **Russell v. State**, 607 So. 2d 1107, 1117 (Miss. 1993), the Court stated issues not raised during trial on a specific objection were waived on appeal.

This is the first time the question of voluntariness of the July 27, 1989, statement has been raised in connection with its impeachment use; at trial, Russell challenged impeachment use of his prior statement only on the grounds of authenticity. "It is elementary that different grounds than the objections presented to the trial court cannot be presented for the first time on appeal." **Thornhill v. State**, 561 So. 2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1989.)

Both Ms. Gina Pineda, and Ms. Kathry Moyse, the DNA analysts expert witnesses, testified that there was no evidence of contamination or degradation of the evidence submitted to their genetic labs for testing. R. 780; 978.

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